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Proceeding under Sections 3008(a) and (g) of the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), 
as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and (g) 
 

 

    
 

CONSENT AGREEMENT 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 
1. This Consent Agreement is entered into by the Director of the Enforcement and 

Compliance Assurance Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region III 
(“Complainant”) and Eden Wood Preserving LLC (“Respondent”) (collectively the 
“Parties”), pursuant to Sections 3008(a) and (g) of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, 
commonly known as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended 
by inter alia, the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984 (collectively referred 
to hereinafter as “RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and (g), and the Consolidated Rules of 
Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties and the Revocation, 
Termination or Suspension of Permits (“Consolidated Rule of Practice”), 40 C.F.R. Part 
22.  42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(2), RCRA § 3008(a)(1), 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(1), authorizes the 
Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to assess penalties and 
undertake other actions required by this Consent Agreement.  The Administrator has 
delegated this authority to the Regional Administrator, who, in turn, has delegated it to 
the Complainant.  This Consent Agreement and the attached Final Order resolve 
Complainant’s civil penalty claims against Respondent under RCRA (or the “Act”) for 
the violations alleged herein. 
 

2. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. §§ 22.13(b) and 22.18(b)(2) and (3) of the Consolidated 
Rules of Practice, Complainant hereby simultaneously commences and resolves this 
administrative proceeding. 

 
JURISDICTION 
 
3. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA” or “the Agency”) has jurisdiction 

over the above-captioned matter, as described in Paragraph 1, above. 
 

Besposit
New Stamp
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4. Pursuant to Section 3006(b) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926(b), and 40 C.F.R. Part 271, 
Subpart A, the State of Maryland has been granted final authorization to administer its 
hazardous waste management program, set forth at the Code of Maryland Regulations 
(“COMAR”), Title 10, Subtitle 51 et seq., in lieu of the federal hazardous waste 
management program established under RCRA Subtitle C, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6921-6939e.  
The State of Maryland Hazardous Waste Management Regulations (“MdHWMR”) 
originally were authorized by EPA on February 11, 1985, pursuant to Section 3006(b) of 
RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926(b).  Revisions to the MdHWMR set forth at COMAR, Title 26, 
Subtitle 13, were authorized by EPA effective July 31, 2001 and September 24, 2004.  
The provisions of the revised federally-authorized program have thereby become 
requirements of RCRA Subtitle C and are enforceable by EPA pursuant to Section 
3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a). 
 

5. Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), authorizes EPA to initiate an 
enforcement action whenever EPA determines that a person is in violation of any 
requirement of RCRA Subtitle C, EPA’s regulations thereunder, or any regulation of a 
state hazardous waste program which has been authorized by EPA.  Section 3008(g) of 
RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(g), authorizes the assessment if a civil penalty against any 
person who violates any requirement of Subtitle C of RCRA. 

 
6. The Consolidated Rules of Practice govern this administrative adjudicatory proceeding 

pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.1(a)(4). 
 

7. EPA has given the State of Maryland, through the Maryland Department of the    
Environment (“MDE”), prior notice as of March 11, 2019 concerning the initiation of this 
action in accordance with Section 3008(a)(2) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(2). 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

8. For purposes of this proceeding only, Respondent admits the jurisdictional allegations set 
forth in this Consent Agreement and Final Order. 

 
9. Except as provided in Paragraph 8, above, Respondent neither admits nor denies the 

specific factual allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement. 
 

10. Respondent agrees not to contest the jurisdiction of EPA with respect to the execution of 
this Consent Agreement, the issuance of the attached Final Order, or the enforcement of 
this Consent Agreement and Final Order. 

 
11. For purposes of this proceeding only, Respondent hereby expressly waives its right to 

contest the allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement and waives its right to appeal 
the accompanying Final Order. 

 
12. Respondent consents to the assessment of the civil penalty stated herein, to the issuance 

of any specified compliance order herein, and to any conditions specified herein. 
 

13. Respondent shall bear its own costs and attorney’s fees in connection with this 
proceeding.  
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 

14. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. §§ 22.13(b) and 22.18(b)(2) and (3) of the Consolidated 
Rules of Practice, Complainant alleges and adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth immediately below. 
 

15. For the times relevant to the allegations set forth below, Eden Wood Preserving LLC. 
was a corporation, organized under the laws of the State of Delaware on August 18, 2011.  
As such, Eden Wood Preserving was a ‘person’ as that term is defined in Section 
1004(15) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C.  Section 6903(15), 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 and COMAR 
26.13.01.03B(61) and was subject to the assessment of civil penalties for the violations 
alleged herein. 

 
16. At all times relevant to the alleged violations contained herein, Respondent was the 

owner of a facility located at 28114 Old Eden Road & Route 13, Fruitland, Maryland 
21826 (hereinafter “the Facility”). 
 

17. The Facility uses Chromated Copper Arsenate (“CCA”) in various concentrations to 
pressure treat wood for a range of uses that require different “charges” of CCA to 
preserve the wood during its use.  There is an approximately 12,500 square foot drip pad 
with a six-inch curb at the Facility intended to prevent run-on or run-off. 
 

18. The Facility was constructed in 1978 with additions to the drip pad in 1984 and 1993.   
 

19. Respondent has operated at the Facility since 2011.  At all times relevant to the 
allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement, Respondent is, and has been, the 
“operator” and the “owner” of the Facility, as those terms are defined in COMAR 
26.13.01.03.B(58) and (59). 
 

20. Respondent has been assigned EPA ID Number MDD095415840 for the generation of 
hazardous waste at the Facility.  The Facility does not have a permit for the treatment, 
storage or disposal of hazardous wastes.     

 
21. As part of its operations, Respondent generates wood preservative drippage hazardous 

waste with EPA Hazardous Waste No. F035.  At all times relevant to the allegations set 
forth in this Consent Agreement, and as described below, Respondent is, and has been, a 
“generator” of “solid waste” and “hazardous waste” at the Facility, as these terms are 
defined in COMAR 26.13.01.03.B(29), (73) and (31). 
  

22. At all times relevant to the allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement, and as 
described below, Respondent is, and has been, engaged in the temporary “storage” of 
“solid waste” and “hazardous waste” in “containers” and on a “drip pad” at the Facility, 
as well as in the collection system and a “sump” associated with the treatment cylinders, 
as those terms are defined in COMAR 26.13.01.03.B(9), (16-1), (31), (73), (76) and (76-
1).   

 
23. At all times relevant to the allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement, and as 
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described below, Respondent is, and has been, engaged in the use of a “drip pad” for the 
wood-preservative treatment and temporary outdoor storage of wood at the Facility, as 
the term “drip pad” is defined in 40 C.F.R. § 264.570 and in COMAR 26.13.01.03(16-1). 
 

24. On August 22, 2018, inspectors from EPA and MDE conducted a Compliance Evaluation 
Inspection (“CEI”) of the Facility owned and operated by the Respondent, Eden Wood 
Preserving LLC. 
 

25. On July 22, 2019, EPA sent a Request to Show Cause and Request for Information 
(“Show Cause letter”) to Respondent advising it of EPA’s preliminary findings of 
violations at the Facility and offering the Respondent an opportunity to provide such 
additional information as it believed the Agency should review and consider before 
reaching any final conclusions as to the Respondent’s compliance with the MdHWMR 
and federal hazardous waste regulations at the Facility. 
 

26. In response to the Show Cause Letter, Respondent provided EPA with information during 
a meeting on September 16, 2019 and in written responses dated October 21, 2019 and 
November 21, 2019. 

 
27. On the basis of EPA’s findings during the Inspection and Respondent’s response to 

EPA’s Show Cause letter, EPA concludes that Respondent has violated certain 
requirements and provisions of RCRA Subtitle C, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6921-6939g, certain 
federally-authorized MdHWMR requirements promulgated thereunder, and certain 
applicable federal hazardous waste regulations. 
 

28. At all times relevant to the allegations set forth in this Consent Agreement, Respondent’s 
Facility is, and has been, a hazardous waste storage “facility” as that term is defined in 
COMAR 26.13.01.03.B(23).  

 
Count I 

Operating a Treatment, Storage or Disposal Facility Without a Permit or Interim 
Status  
 

29. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 
herein by reference. 
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30. Section 3005(a) and (e) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6925(a) and (e), 40 C.F.R. 262 & 270 
require, with certain exceptions not relevant here, that no person who owns or operates a 
facility for the treatment, storage or disposal of hazardous waste may do so without first 
obtaining a permit or interim status for the facility.  COMAR 26.13.07.01A also requires 
a permit or interim status for the treatment, storage or disposal of hazardous waste.    
 

31. RCRA § 3005(e), 42 U.S.C. § 6925(e), provides, in pertinent part, that any person who 
owns or operates a facility required to have a permit under RCRA § 3005, which facility 
was in existence on November 19, 1980, or is in existence on the effective date of 
statutory or regulatory provisions that render the facility subject to the requirement to 
have a permit, has complied with the notification requirements of RCRA § 3010(a), 42 
U.S.C. § 6930(a), and has applied for a permit under RCRA § 3005, shall be treated as 
having been issued such permit (i.e, “interim status”) until such time as final 
administrative disposition of such application is made. 

 
32. Respondent has never had “interim status” pursuant to RCRA Section 3005(e) or a permit 

issued pursuant to RCRA Section 3005(a) for the treatment, storage, or disposal of  
hazardous waste at the Facility. 
 

33. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E, large quantity generators of hazardous waste who 
accumulate hazardous waste on-site for less than 90 days are exempt from the 
requirement to obtain a permit for such accumulation, so long as the hazardous waste is 
stored in accordance with a number of conditions set forth in that section, including, inter 
alia: 
 

a. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E(1)(d), the generator must comply with the 
requirements of COMAR 26.13.05.09, including: 
 

i. The requirement to keep containers holding hazardous waste always 
closed during storage, except when necessary to add or remove waste, in 
accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.09D; and, 

ii. The requirement to inspect areas where containers are stored, at least 
weekly, looking for leaks and for deterioration of containers and the 
containment system caused by corrosion and other factors, in accordance 
with COMAR 26.13.05.09E. 

 
b. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E(1)(e), the generator must clearly mark each 

container with the date upon which each period of accumulation begins so that the 
mark is visible for inspection on each container; and, 

 
c. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E(1)(f), while being accumulated in containers 

on site, the generator must label or mark each container with the words 
“Hazardous Waste,” and, 

 
d. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E(1)(g), the generator must comply with the 

requirements of COMAR 26.13.05.02G, .03, and .04, including the requirements 
that: 
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1. Facility personnel take part in an annual review of the initial hazardous waste 
management training required by COMAR 26.13.05.02G(1)(a) in accordance 
with COMAR 26.13.05.02G(3); 

   
2. The owner or operator maintain at the facility a written job description for 

each position related to hazardous waste management in accordance with 
COMAR 26.13.05.02G(4)(b); 

 
3. The owner or operator maintain at the facility records that document the 

training or job experience required under COMAR 26.13.05.02G(1), (2) and 
(3) has been given to, and completed by, facility personnel in accordance with 
COMAR 26.13.05.02G(4)(d); and  

  
4. Each owner or operator have a contingency plan for his facility, in accordance 

with COMAR 26.13.05.04. 
 

e. Pursuant to COMAR 26.13.03.05E(1)(l), the generator that accumulates 
hazardous wastes in drip pads must comply with the requirements of COMAR 
12.13.05.17-1 – 17-4, which include: 
 
1. COMAR 26.13.05.17-2:  Design and Operating Requirements; and 

 
2. COMAR 26.13.05.17-3:  Inspections 

 
34. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the Respondent had failed to keep containers 

holding hazardous waste always closed during storage, except when necessary to add or 
remove waste, in accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.E(1)(d), as follows: 
 

a. Universal waste lamps (which must be treated as hazardous waste in Maryland 
due to lack of authorization as universal waste by EPA) were stored in a loft in an 
open box. 
 

35. At the time of the August 22, 2108 CEI, the Respondent had failed to label or mark each 
container with the words “Hazardous Waste,” in accordance with COMAR 
26.13.03.05.E(1)(e), as follows: 
 

a. Universal waste lamps (which must be treated as hazardous waste in Maryland 
due to lack of authorization as universal waste by EPA) were stored in a loft in an 
open box with no label or mark to indicate it contained hazardous waste. 
 

36. At the time of the August 22, 2108 CEI, the Respondent had failed to mark a hazardous 
waste container with a date upon which a period of accumulation had begun, as required 
in accordance with COMAR 26.13.03.05.E(1)(f)(ii), as follows: 

 
a. Universal waste lamps (which must be treated as hazardous waste in Maryland 

due to lack of authorization as universal waste by EPA) were stored in a loft in an 
open box with no date upon which a period of accumulation had begun. 
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37. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the Respondent had failed to maintain the 
hydraulic conductivity of the drip pad in accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a), 
as follows: 

 
a. Respondent failed to seal, coat or cover the drip pad as required by COMAR 

26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a) prior to and at the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI.   
 

38. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the Respondent failed to maintain the existing 
drip pad in accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(b) as follows: 

 
a. At the time of the CEI, the inspectors observed deteriorated areas of the drip pad, 

such as cracks and gaps in the concrete surface of the drip pad, which could 
adversely affect its ability to contain liquids, as required by COMAR 26.13.05.17-
2A(2)(b). 
 

39. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the Respondent failed to properly inspect its drip 
pad to detect evidence of deterioration or cracking of the drip pad surface, as required by 
COMAR 26.13.05.17-3E(1)(c), as follows: 

 
a. At the time of the CEI, the inspectors examined documents entitled “Drip Pad 

Inspection/Cleaning/Waste Removal Record” dating from 2015 through August 
22, 2018.   
 

b. The documents that preceded the CEI showed, under the column with the heading 
“Presence of any surface deterioration or cracks,” the letter “N”, which is believed 
to indicate No – that no surface deterioration or cracks were detected at the time 
of the inspections.  
 

c.  Prior to the CEI, in at least one weekly inspection, the Facility failed to detect the 
damage and deterioration that EPA observed during its August 22, 2018 CEI.  
Therefore, Eden Wood failed to detect surface deterioration or cracks during a 
weekly inspection, as required by COMAR 26.13.05.17-3E(1)(c). 

 
40. In failing to comply with the COMAR 26.13.03.05E permit exemption requirement, the 

Respondent did not qualify for the permit exemption, and engaged in the storage of 
hazardous waste without a permit. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of COMAR 
26.13.07.01A and is subject to the assessment of penalties under Sections 3008(a) and (g) 
of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and (g). 

 
Count II 

Failure to Provide Written Description of Training Requirements in Job Description 
 

41. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 40 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 

42. According to COMAR 26.13.05.02G(4)((b), the owner or operator shall maintain the 
following documents and records at the facility that include, among other things:   
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a written job description for each position listed under § G(4)(a) of this regulation.  
The description may be consistent in its degree of specificity with descriptions for 
other similar positions in the same company location or bargaining unit, but shall 
include the requisite skill, education or other qualifications and duties of 
employees assigned to each position.   
 

43. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the EPA inspector examined the job descriptions 
in the Facility’s records and noted that the job descriptions reviewed did not contain 
education requirements for each position, which is in violation of COMAR 
26.13.05.02G(4)(b). 
 

44. In failing to comply with COMAR 26.13.05.02G(4)(b), Respondent is subject to the 
assessment of penalties under Sections 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) 
and (g). 
 

Count III 
Failure to Perform Inspections of Hazardous Waste Storage Areas on a Weekly Basis 

 
45. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 44 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 

herein by reference. 
 

46. According to COMAR 26.13.05.09E, the Respondent shall inspect containers for storage 
of hazardous waste on at least a weekly basis. 
 

47. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the EPA inspector reviewed three years of Eden 
Wood’s inspection records for hazardous waste storage.  The 2017 and 2018 records 
indicated that Respondent did not conduct a total of 16 weeks of inspections, which is in 
violation of COMAR 26.13.05.09E. 

 
48. In failing to comply with COMAR 26.13.05.09E, which incorporates by reference 40 

CFR 265.174, Respondent is subject to the assessment of penalties under Sections 
3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and (g). 
 
 

Count IV 
Failure to Maintain Hydraulic Conductivity of Entire Drip Pad 

 
49. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 

herein by reference. 
 

50. The Respondent is required to maintain the hydraulic conductivity of the drip pad in 
accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a). 
 

51. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the Respondent had failed to maintain the 
hydraulic conductivity of the drip pad in accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a) 
as follows: 

 
a. The inspectors observed damaged areas of the drip pad at the time of the August 
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22, 2018 CEI.  The damage to the drip pad created a condition in which areas of 
the drip pad were no longer sealed or coated at the time of the CEI.   Respondent 
failed to seal, coat or cover the drip pad prior to and at the time of the August 22, 
2018 CEI, which is in violation of COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a).   
 

52. In failing to comply with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(a) Respondent is subject to the 
assessment of penalties under Sections 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) 
and (g). 

 
Count V 

Failure to Maintain Drip Pad Free of Cracks, Gaps, Corrosion or Other Deterioration 
 

53. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 52 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 
herein by reference. 

 
54. The Respondent is required to maintain the existing drip pad to avoid cracks, gaps and 

deterioration of the drip pad, in accordance with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(b).  
 

55. At the time of the CEI, the inspectors observed deteriorated areas of the drip pad, such as 
cracks and gaps in the concrete surface of the drip pad, which could adversely affect its 
ability to contain liquids.  Respondent is thus in violation of COMAR 26.13.05.17-
2A(2)(b). 
 

56. In failing to comply with COMAR 26.13.05.17-2A(2)(b), Respondent is subject to the 
assessment of penalties under Sections 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) 
and (g). 

 
Count VI 

Failure to Detect Damage and Deterioration to Drip Pad During Weekly Inspections 
 

57. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 56 of this Consent Agreement are incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 

58. Respondent is required, through the course of weekly inspections, to detect whether 
damage and deterioration to the drip pad have occurred, in accordance with COMAR 
26.13.05.17-3E(1)(c). 

 
59. EPA reviewed drip pad inspection records from 2015 through August 22, 2018.  The 

documents reviewed were entitled “Drip Pad Inspection/Cleaning/Waste Removal 
Record.”   However, under the column with the heading “Presence of any surface 
deterioration or cracks,” the letter “N” was written, which is believed to indicate No – 
that no surface deterioration or cracks were detected at the time of the inspections. 
 

60. At the time of the August 22, 2018 CEI, the EPA inspector detected cracks, gaps and 
deterioration of the drip pad, even though the weekly inspection records of the Facility 
noted that there was no presence of any surface deterioration or cracks. 

   
61. At least the weekly inspection conducted by the Facility before the August 22, 2018 CEI 
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failed to detect the damage and deterioration of the drip pad that EPA observed during 
the CEI.  Therefore, Eden Wood failed to detect surface deterioration or cracks during 
weekly inspections, as required by COMAR 26.13.05.17-3E(1)(c). 
 

62. In failing to comply with COMAR 26.13.05.17-3E(1)(c), Respondent is subject to the 
assessment of penalties under Sections 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) 
and (g). 

 
CIVIL PENALTY 
 
63. In settlement of EPA’s claims for civil penalties for the violations alleged in this Consent 

Agreement, Respondent consents to the assessment of a civil penalty in the amount of 
FIFTY THOUSAND dollars ($50,000.00), which Respondent shall be liable to pay in 
accordance with the terms set forth below. 

 
64. The civil penalty is based upon EPA’s consideration of a number of factors, including the 

penalty criteria (“statutory factors”) set forth in Section 3008(a)(3) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 
6928(a)(3), including, the following: the seriousness of the violation and any good faith 
efforts to comply with the applicable requirements.  These factors were applied to the 
particular facts and circumstances of this case with specific reference to EPA’s October, 
1990 RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, as revised in June, 2003 (“RCRA Penalty Policy”), 
which reflect the statutory penalty criteria and factors set forth at Section 3008(a)(3) and 
(g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a)(3) and (g), the appropriate Adjustment of Civil 
Monetary Penalties for Inflation, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19, and the applicable EPA 
memoranda addressing EPA’s civil penalty policies to account for inflation.  
 

65. Payment of the civil penalty amount, and any associated interest, administrative fees, and 
late payment penalties owed, shall be made by either cashier’s check, certified check or 
electronic wire transfer, in the following manner: 

 
a. All payments by Respondent shall include reference to Respondent’s name and 

address, and the Docket Number of this action, i.e., EPA Docket No. RCRA-03-
2020-0098; 

 
b. All checks shall be made payable to the “United States Treasury”; 

 
c. All payments made by check and sent by regular mail shall be addressed and 

mailed to: 
 
   U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
   Cincinnati Finance Center 
   P.O. Box 979077 
   St. Louis, MO 63197-9000 
 

d. For additional information concerning other acceptable methods of payment of 
the civil penalty amount see: 

 
   https://www.epa.gov/financial/makepayment 
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e. A copy of Respondent’s check or other documentation of payment of the penalty 

using the method selected by Respondent for payment shall be sent 
simultaneously to: 

 
Daniel T. Gallo 
Assistant Regional Counsel 
U.S. EPA, Region III (3RC40) 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, PA  19103-2029 
gallo.dan@epa.gov 

 
66. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3717 and 40 C.F.R. § 13.11, EPA is entitled to assess interest and 

late payment penalties on outstanding debts owed to the United States and a charge to 
cover the costs of processing and handling a delinquent claim, as more fully described 
below.  Accordingly, Respondent’s failure to make timely payment of the penalty as 
specified herein shall result in the assessment of late payment charges including interest, 
penalties and/or administrative costs of handling delinquent debts. 

 
67. Payment of the civil penalty is due and payable immediately upon receipt by Respondent 

of a true and correct copy of the fully executed and filed Consent Agreement and Final 
Order. Receipt by Respondent or Respondent’s legal counsel of such copy of the fully 
executed Consent Agreement and Final Order, with a date stamp indicating the date on 
which the Consent Agreement and Final Order was filed with the Regional Hearing 
Clerk, shall constitute receipt of written initial notice that a debt is owed EPA by 
Respondent in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 13.9(a). 
 

68. INTEREST:  In accordance with 40 C.F.R § 13.11(a)(1), interest on the civil penalty   
assessed in this Consent Agreement and Final Order will begin to accrue on the date that 
a copy of the fully executed and filed Consent Agreement and Final Order is 
electronically transmitted, mailed or hand-delivered to Respondent. However, EPA will 
not seek to recover interest on any amount of the civil penalties that is paid within thirty 
(30) calendar days after the date on which such interest begins to accrue. Interest will be 
assessed at the rate of the United States Treasury tax and loan rate in accordance with 40 
C.F.R § 13.11(a). 
 

69. ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS:  The costs of the EPA’s administrative handling of 
overdue debts will be charged and assessed monthly throughout the period a debt is 
overdue.  40 C.F.R. § 13.11(b).  Pursuant to Appendix 2 of EPA’s Resources 
Management Directives – Case Management, Chapter 9, EPA will assess a $15.00 
administrative handling charge for administrative costs on unpaid penalties for the first 
thirty (30) day period after the payment is due and an additional $15.00 for each 
subsequent thirty (30) days the penalty remains unpaid. 
 

70. LATE PAYMENT PENALTY:  A late payment penalty of six percent per year will be 
assessed monthly on any portion of the civil penalty that remains delinquent more than 
ninety (90) calendar days. 40 C.F.R. § 13.11(c).  Should assessment of the penalty charge 
on the debt be required, it shall accrue from the first day payment is delinquent.  31 
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C.F.R. § 901.9(d). 
 

71. Respondent agrees not to deduct for federal tax purposes the civil penalty assessed in this 
Consent Agreement and Final Order.   

 
 

COMPLIANCE ORDER 
 

72. As a condition of this settlement, Respondent is hereby ORDERED, pursuant to Section 
3008(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), and does consent, to implement and execute 
Attachment A, Sampling and Analysis Plan (“SAP”), of this Consent Agreement and 
Final Order, at Respondent’s Facility as specified in Attachment A.  The SAP requires 
Respondent to perform the requisite Compliance Tasks, each of which is also referred to 
as an “Activity” or “Activities” in the SAP, and shall consist of: 
 

1) Planning/Preparatory/Mobilization Activities 
2) Field Work 
3) Analytical Data Analysis 
4) Data Validation 
5) Report of Findings 

 
73. Respondent shall perform the Compliance Tasks described in the SAP in the timeframe 

specified in Section 2.3 of the SAP: the “Project Timeline.”  Respondent shall commence 
to perform SAP Compliance Tasks no later than fourteen (14) days after this Consent 
Agreement and Final Order becomes effective.  “Days” as used herein shall mean 
calendar days unless specified otherwise. 
 

74. Respondent shall develop and perform all work undertaken pursuant to this Compliance 
Order, as appropriate and as approved by EPA, in accordance with the SAP. 
 

75. For any sampling activities under the SAP, Respondent shall provide split or duplicate 
samples to EPA and/or its field representative(s) from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
(USACE).  Samples taken shall be recorded on the “USACE QA Sample Scheme” 
spreadsheet, or a similar spreadsheet, which provides a comprehensive listing to EPA of 
all samples taken.   
 

76. Respondent shall notify EPA and the USACE not less than 14 days in advance of any 
planned sample collection activity under the SAP unless shorter notice is agreed to by 
EPA.  In addition, EPA and the USACE shall have the right to take any additional 
samples that EPA or the USACE deem necessary.  A representative from the USACE 
must be present in order for the Respondent to perform any field activity under the SAP, 
unless EPA waives the requirement.  Samples collected without the presence of a 
USACE representative will not be accepted and will require re-sampling in the presence 
of a USACE representative, unless EPA waived this requirement.  
 

77. Respondent shall provide, at a minimum, fourteen (14) day advance notice, by phone and 
email, prior to the commencement of any sampling or field activity under the SAP to the 
following individuals: 
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William E. “Skip” Harris, Industrial Hygienist 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
Geo-Environmental Section 
Philadelphia District  

 
• Correspondence with Mr. Harris should be directed to:   

 
William.E.Harris@usace.army.mil   
Cell phone number:  609-781-2913. 

 
Stephen Forostiak, EPA-Region III 
RCRA Section/Air, RCRA & Toxics Branch 
Enforcement & Compliance Assurance Division 
1650 Arch Street (3ED22) 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029 
Phone: 215/814-2136 
Fax: 215/814-3163 
forostiak.stephen@epa.gov 
 

In addition, please provide email notice of any planned field activity under the SAP to: 
 
Joseph Loeper, USACE:  Joseph.M.Loeper@usace.army.mil 
Diane Schott, EPA Region III:  schott.diane@epa.gov 
Daniel Gallo, EPA Region III:  gallo.dan@epa.gov 

 
78. In the event that EPA finds that a release may be present and additional data is needed, 

EPA reserves the right to request additional sampling to confirm the observations from the 
initial sampling.  

79. Respondent shall provide to EPA, upon request, copies of all records, reports, documents, 
and other information (including records, reports, documents, and other information in 
electronic form) (hereinafter referred to as “Records”) within Respondent’s possession or 
control or that of its contractors or agents relating to activities performed at the Facility to 
implement the SAP,  or to implement this Order, including, but not limited to, sampling, 
analysis, chain of custody records, manifests, trucking logs, receipts, reports, sample 
traffic routing, correspondence, or other documents or information regarding the SAP 
work.  Respondent shall also make available to EPA, for purposes of investigation, 
information gathering, or testimony, their employees, agents, or representatives with 
knowledge of relevant facts concerning the performance of the SAP work. 

80. Unless otherwise specified, reports, correspondence, approvals, notices, and other 
submissions by either party relating to or required under this Compliance Order shall be in 
writing.  Email is an acceptable method for submissions in writing. 

81. Respondent shall submit a Report of Findings in accordance with the SAP. The Report of 
Findings shall include, in addition to any information specified in the SAP: 
 

mailto:William.E.Harris@usace.army.mil
mailto:forostiak.stephen@epa.gov
mailto:Joseph.M.Loeper@usace.army.mil
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a. A certification that all Compliance Tasks contained in Section 2.3 of the SAP 
have been completed and that complete information has been submitted to EPA; 

 
b. The following information:   

 
• Figure(s) showing sample location using sample IDs provided to the 

laboratory 
• Data summary table 
• Field notes 
• Photographic documentation 
• Boring logs with XRF measurements for each boring  
• Chain of Custody Documents 
• Sample Analysis Reports 
• Data Validation Reports 

At a minimum, the following shall be provided in the data validation 
reports:  

o A description of the data validation review and associated findings, 
and 

o Final validated results, signed by the data validator 
• A copy of the SAP 
• Waste Characterization, Transportation and Disposal Documentation  

o An existing waste characterization covers waste that will be 
generated during the investigation; therefore a new 
characterization is not expected.  

 
c. The itemized costs for SAP expenditures, along with the sum total of all costs 

incurred by the Respondent for completion of all SAP Compliance tasks.  For 
each itemized cost, the Respondent shall: 

 
i. Clearly identify and provide acceptable financial documentation 

evidencing its actual payment of all itemized SAP costs; 
 

ii. For purposes of this Paragraph, “acceptable financial documentation” 
includes payment invoices, purchase orders, payment receipts, or other 
documentation that specifically identifies and itemizes the individual costs 
of the goods and/or services for which payment was made.  Canceled 
drafts do not constitute acceptable documentation unless such drafts 
specifically identify and itemize the individual costs of the goods and/or 
services for which payment was made. 

 
82. Submissions to EPA: the Report of Findings, any notice, certification, data presentation, 

or other document submitted by Respondent pursuant to this Compliance Order which 
discusses, describes, demonstrates, or supports any finding or makes any representation 
concerning Respondent’s compliance or non-compliance with any requirements of this 
Compliance Order, shall be certified by a responsible corporate officer of Respondent.  A 
responsible corporate officer means: (1) a president, secretary, treasurer, or vice-president 
of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or (2) any other person who 
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performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the corporation.  The aforesaid 
certification shall provide the following statement above the signature of the responsible 
corporate officer signing the certification on behalf of the Respondent: 

I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments are true, 
accurate and complete.  As to [the/those] identified portions of this [type of 
submission] for which I cannot personally verify [its/their] accuracy, I certify 
under penalty of law that this [type of submission] and all attachments were 
prepared in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel 
properly gather and evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of 
the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 
responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best 
of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate and complete.  I am aware that there 
are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility 
of fines and imprisonment for knowing violations. 

Signature: ____________________________ 
Name: ____________________________ 
Title: ____________________________ 

83. Except as otherwise provided herein, notifications or submissions to EPA required by this
Compliance Order shall be sent via email and by mail to:

Stephen Forostiak (3ED22) 
RCRA Section 
Air, RCRA & Toxics Branch 
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region III 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029 
forostiak.stephen@epa.gov; and 

Daniel T. Gallo (3RC40) 
Assistant Regional Counsel 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region III 
1650 Arch Street  
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029 
gallo.dan@epa.gov 

84. In the event a force majeure event impacts the ability of the Respondent to perform the
SAP in accordance with the SAP Section 2.3 Project Timeline, Respondent shall contact
EPA at the earliest sign of a potential delay.  For purposes of this Compliance Order,
“force majeure” is defined as any event arising from causes beyond the control of
Respondent, of any entity controlled by Respondent, or of Respondent’s contractors, that
delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this Compliance Order despite
Respondent’s best efforts to fulfill the obligation.  Increased costs or expenses associated
with the implementation of actions called for in this Consent Agreement, or a change in
Respondent’s economic circumstances does not constitute force majeure.  Respondent
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shall identify how COVID-19 or a force majeure was the cause of the delay, and the 
decisions and actions taken in response, including best efforts to meet the timeline and 
steps to be taken to complete the SAP at the earliest opportunity.  EPA and Respondent 
shall work cooperatively to mutually agree to a reasonable extension, based upon proper 
COVID-19 or force majeure related justification, to any phase of the Compliance 
Tasks/Activities contained within the 12-week Project Timeline of the SAP.  Respondent 
shall act responsibly under the circumstances in order to minimize the duration of any 
delay caused by COVID-19 or a force majeure in implementing and completing the SAP. 

 
GENERAL SETTLEMENT CONDITIONS 

 
85. By signing this Consent Agreement, Respondent acknowledges that this Consent 

Agreement and Final Order will be available to the public and represents that, to the best 
of Respondent’s knowledge and belief, this Consent Agreement and Final Order does not 
contain any confidential business information or personally identifiable information from 
Respondent. 

 
86. Respondent certifies that any information or representation it has supplied or made to EPA 

concerning this matter was, at the time of submission true, accurate, and complete and that 
there has been no material change regarding the truthfulness, accuracy or completeness of 
such information or representation. EPA shall have the right to institute further actions to 
recover appropriate relief if EPA obtains evidence that any information provided and/or 
representations made by Respondent to the EPA regarding matters  relevant to this 
Consent Agreement and Final Order, including information about respondent’s ability to 
pay a penalty, are false or, in any material respect, inaccurate.  This right shall be in 
addition to all other rights and causes of action that EPA may have, civil or criminal, 
under law or equity in such event. Respondent and its officers, directors and agents are 
aware that the submission of false or misleading information to the United States 
government may subject a person to separate civil and/or criminal liability. 
 

OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS 
 

87. Nothing in this Consent Agreement and Final Order shall relieve Respondent of its 
obligation to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, nor 
shall it restrict  EPA’s authority to seek compliance with any applicable laws or 
regulations, nor shall it be construed to be a ruling on the validity of any federal, state or 
local permit. This Consent Agreement and Final Order does not constitute a waiver, 
suspension or modification of the requirements of the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, or any regulations promulgated thereunder. 

 
RESERVATION OF RIGHTS 

 
88. This Consent Agreement and Final Order resolves only EPA’s claims for civil penalties 

for the specific violation[s] alleged against Respondent in this Consent Agreement and 
Final Order.   EPA reserves the right to commence action against any person, including 
Respondent, in response to any condition which EPA determines may present an imminent 
and substantial endangerment to the public health, public welfare, or the environment. 
This settlement is subject to all limitations on the scope of resolution and to the 
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reservation of rights set forth in Section 22.18(c) of the Consolidated Rules of Practice, 40 
C.F.R. § 22.18(c).  EPA reserves any rights and remedies available to it under the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the regulations promulgated thereunder and 
any other federal law or regulation to enforce the terms of this Consent Agreement and 
Final Order after its effective date.  Respondent reserves whatever rights or defenses it 
may have to defend itself in any such action. 
 

EXECUTION /PARTIES BOUND 
 

89. This Consent Agreement and Final Order shall apply to and be binding upon the EPA, the 
Respondent and the officers, directors, employees, contractors, successors, agents and 
assigns of Respondent.  By his or her signature below, the person who signs this Consent 
Agreement on behalf of Respondent is acknowledging that he or she is fully authorized by 
the Respondent  to execute this Consent Agreement and to legally bind Respondent to the 
terms and conditions of this Consent Agreement and Final Order. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
90. The effective date of this Consent Agreement and Final Order is the date on which the 

Final Order, signed by the Regional Administrator of EPA, Region III, or his/her designee, 
the Regional Judicial Officer, is filed along with the Consent Agreement with the 
Regional Hearing Clerk pursuant to the Consolidated Rules of Practice.  
 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT  
 

91. This Consent Agreement and Final Order constitutes the entire agreement and 
understanding between the Parties regarding settlement of all claims for civil penalties 
pertaining to the specific violations alleged herein and there are no representations, 
warranties, covenants, terms, or conditions agreed upon between the Parties other than 
those expressed in this Consent Agreement and Final Order. 
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For the Complainant: 
 
After reviewing the Consent Agreement and other pertinent matters, I, the undersigned Director 
of the Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division of the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency, Region III, agree to the terms and conditions of this Consent Agreement and 
recommend that the Regional Administrator, or his/her designee, the Regional Judicial Officer, 
issue the attached Final Order. 
 
 
Date: ____________________                    By: ______________________________________ 
                                                                            Karen Melvin 

                                                                Director, Enforcement and Compliance   
         Assurance Division 

                                                                            U.S. EPA – Region III 
                       Complainant 
 
 
Attorney for Complainant:  
            
 
Date: ____________________                     By: ______________________________________ 
                                                                             Daniel T. Gallo 
                                                                             Assistant Regional Counsel 
                                                                             U.S. EPA – Region III 
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BEFORE THE UNITED STATES 
                                ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
                                                                REGION III 
 
In the Matter of: 
 

Eden Wood Preserving LLC 
28114 Old Eden Road & Route 13, Fruitland, 
Maryland 21822 
 
                                   
 
 
 

 
 

EPA Docket No.  RCRA-03-2020-0098 

          Respondent. 
 

  FINAL ORDER 

 
                                         

 

                                         
 

Proceeding under Section 3008(a) and (g) of 
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
(RCRA), as amended,  
42 U.S.C. § 6928(a) and (g) 

  

 
FINAL ORDER 

 
Complainant, the Director of the Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division, U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency, Region III, and Respondent, Eden Wood Preserving LLC, 
have executed a document entitled “Consent Agreement,” which I hereby ratify as a Consent 
Agreement in accordance with the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative 
Assessment of Civil Penalties and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension of Permits 
(“Consolidated Rules of Practice”), 40 C.F.R. Part 22, with specific reference to Sections 
22.13(b) and 22.18(b)(2) and (3).  The terms of the foregoing Consent Agreement are accepted 
by the undersigned and incorporated into this Final Order as if fully set forth at length herein. 

 
Based upon the representations of the parties in the attached Consent Agreement, the 

penalty agreed to therein is based upon consideration of, inter alia, EPA’s October 1990 RCRA 
Civil Penalty Policy, as revised in June, 2003 (“RCRA Penalty Policy”), which reflects the 
statutory penalty criteria and factors set forth at Sections 3008(a)(3) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. 
§§ 6982(a)(3) and (g), the appropriate Adjustment of Civil Monetary Penalties for Inflation, 
pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19, and the applicable EPA memoranda addressing EPA’s civil 
penalty policies to account for inflation. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO Section 3008(a) of the Resource Conservation 

and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a) and (g), and Section 22.18(b)(3) 
of the Consolidated Rules of Practice, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Respondent pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($50,000.00), in accordance with the 

Besposit
New Stamp
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payment provisions set forth in the Consent Agreement, and comply with the terms and 
conditions of the Consent Agreement. 

 
This Final Order constitutes the final Agency action in this proceeding.  This Final Order 

shall not in any case affect the right of the Agency or the United States to pursue appropriate 
injunctive or other equitable relief, or criminal sanctions for any violations of the law.  This Final 
Order resolves only those causes of action alleged in the Consent Agreement and does not waive, 
extinguish or otherwise affect Respondent’s obligation to comply with all applicable provisions 
of RCRA Subtitle C and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

 
The effective date of the attached Consent Agreement and this Final Order is the date on 

which this Final Order is filed with the Regional Hearing Clerk. 
 
 
_______________         _______________________________________                                  
Date                                                                      Joseph J. Lisa                                                         
                                                                  Regional Judicial and Presiding Officer                                                                      
                                                                  U.S. EPA Region III 
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In the Matter of: 

Eden Wood Preserving LLC 
28114 Eden Road 
Fruitland, MD 21822, 

          Respondent.  

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

U.S. EPA Docket RCRA-03-2020-0098 

Proceeding under Section 3008(a) and (g) of the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), 
as amended,  
42 U.S.C. § 6928(a) and (g). 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on ____________________________, the original and one (1) copy of the 
foregoing Consent Agreement and Final Order, were filed with the EPA Region III Regional 
Hearing Clerk. I further certify that on the date set forth below, I caused to be served a true and 
correct copy of the foregoing to each of the following persons, in the manner specified below, at 
the following addresses: 

Copy served via ELECTRONIC TRANSMITTAL, or mail, to: 

Sarah Latham, President 
Eden Wood Preserving LLC 

Dan Jordanger, Attorney at Law 
Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP 

28114 Eden Road Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 
Fruitland, MD 21822  951 East Byrd Street 
Email:  slatham@edenwoodpreserving.com              Richmond, VA 23219 

Email:  djordanger@hunton.com 

Copies served via ELECTRONIC TRANSMITTAL, or Hand Delivery or Inter-Office Mail to: 

Daniel T. Gallo 
Assistant Regional Counsel 
ORC – 3RC40 
U.S. EPA, Region III 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

Stephen Forostiak 
Compliance Officer 
ECAD – 3ED22 
U.S. EPA, Region III 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

Dated:
Regional Hearing Clerk 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region III 

mailto:slatham@edenwoodpreserving.com
mailto:djordanger@hunton.com
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